Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 72428-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CLAYTON HARRISON RUSSELL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Tanya L. Thorp

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated Mr. Allen's right to a unanimous verdict when it failed to instruct the jury on unanimity.

2. The trial court erred in including Mr. Russell's California burglary convictions in his offender score.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A defendant has a constitutionally protected right to a unanimous jury. In order to insure jury unanimity where the State alleges several acts, each of which may constitute the charged offense, the prosecutor must either elect the act upon which it relied, or the court must instruct on jury unanimity. Here, the State proved two acts of theft, one in the storage closet which arguably constituted a burglary, and one from the carport which did not. In addition, the prosecutor did not elect which act constituted the act upon which she relied, nor did the court instruct on jury unanimity. Was Mr. Russell's right to jury unanimity violated requiring reversal of his second degree burglary conviction?

2. Does a carport constitute a "building" for the purposes of the second degree burglary statute?

3. Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) and the Due Process Clause, the State bears the burden of proving the comparability of an out-of-state conviction by a preponderance of the evidence. Here, the State presented evidence of California burglary convictions, but the California statute is broader than Washington's burglary statute, and the State did not present evidence that Mr. Russell admitted the facts necessary to find his past conduct fell within Washington's burglary statute or that those facts were proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Did the sentencing court err in including the California burglary convictions in Mr. Russell's offender score?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kristian Kane and Christian Bell were in the process of ending their marriage, and in the process, were completing a move out of their joint residence. RP 108-09, 130-32. On September 7, 2013, there were a few things left when they decided to return the rental truck they had used for moving. RP 117, 132. They left some garden tools, a box of pictures, a computer printer, and some children's toys in the carport next to their home. RP 115, 132-33. Mr. Bell stated he owned a compound bow and arrow which he kept in a storage closet inside the

carport. RP 133. The doors on this storage closet were closed when Mr. Bell and Ms. Kane left. RP 135.

The two were gone approximately 45 minutes, and when they returned, the items were gone. RP 118, 137. Ms. Kane contacted a neighbor who claimed to have observed a red Jeep backing up to the driveway while Mr. Bell and Ms. Kane were gone. RP 104-06, 119. Ms. Kane called the police while Mr. Bell drove to nearby pawn shops to determine if any of their items had been brought in. RP 118, 139. Lacking success with the pawn shops, Mr. Bell began driving around the neighborhood looking for a red Jeep. RP 140.

As Mr. Bell drove past a house, he noticed a child's toy similar to the one taken from his carport. RP 141. He also noticed a red Jeep in the driveway of the home. RP 141. Mr. Bell got out of his car and confronted the appellant, Clayton Russell, outside the house. RP 142. Mr. Russell immediately apologized, went into the home, and brought items out, including the compound bow and arrow. RP 143-44. Mr. Russell promised to return the items. RP 144-45.

Mr. Russell returned to the Bell/Kane house and contacted Ms. Kane. RP 232. Mr. Russell was very apologetic and returned a box of children's toys and a box of pictures. RP 232-33. Mr. Russell asked

Ms. Kane not to call the police, and when she said she already had, Mr. Russell immediately left. RP 234.

The police found the red Jeep with some of Bell/Kane items inside. RP 167-68. Mr. Russell was later stopped by the police and identified in a show-up by Mr. Bell. RP 146, 184-86, 190. Mr. Russell was arrested and the police searched the Jeep, finding the garden tools. RP 151, 212. Ms. Kane claimed the computer printer was never recovered. RP 236.

Mr. Russell was charged with residential burglary. CP 1. The jury could not agree on a verdict on residential burglary, but found Mr. Russell guilty of the lesser degree offense of second degree burglary. CP 62-63.

At sentencing, the trial court found Mr. Russell's prior California first and second degree burglary convictions to be factually comparable to Washington prior convictions and included them in Mr. Russell's offender score. 8/1/2014RP 8-10.

D. ARGUMENT

1. **The trial court failed to ensure the jury verdict was unanimous thus requiring reversal of Mr. Russell’s conviction.**

a. *A criminal defendant has a right to a unanimous verdict.*

A criminal conviction requires that a unanimous jury conclude the defendant committed the criminal act charged in the information. Art. I, § 21; *State v. Ortega–Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). Where the State alleges multiple acts resulting in a single charge, the prosecutor must either elect which act she is relying on as the basis for the charge, or the trial court must instruct the jurors that they must unanimously agree the State proved a single act beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 572, 683 P.2d 173 (1984). *See also State v. Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d 509, 511, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007) (“[w]hen the prosecution presents evidence of multiple acts of like misconduct, any one of which could form the basis of a count charged, *either the State must elect which of such acts is relied upon for a conviction* or the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act.”) (emphasis added). If the State fails to make a proper election and the trial court fails to instruct the jury on unanimity, there is constitutional error stemming from the possibility that some jurors

may have relied on one act or incident while other jurors may have relied on another, resulting in a lack of unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).¹ Whether the trial court was required to instruct the jury on unanimity is reviewed by this Court *de novo*. *State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 531, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004).

The failure to elect an act or give a unanimity instruction is presumed prejudicial and subject to harmless error analysis. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 512; *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 403. This harmless error test turns on whether a rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as to whether each act established the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 405-06.

b. *The carport was not a “building,” thus any taking of property from did not constitute burglary.*

A person is guilty of second degree burglary if, with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he enters or remains unlawfully in a building other than a vehicle or a dwelling.

¹ Mr. Russell did not propose a unanimity instruction at trial. But appellate courts may review for the first time on appeal a “manifest error affecting a constitutional right.” RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686-87, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). The right to a unanimous verdict is part of the fundamental constitutional right to a jury trial which may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Bobenhouse*, 166 Wn.2d 881, 912, 214 P.3d 907 (2009).

RCW 9A.52.030(1). The jury could have based Mr. Russell’s burglary conviction on the removal of items from the carport or from the storage unit. Theft from a carport is not entry into a building for purposes of proving second degree burglary.

The statutory definition of “building” is:

‘Building,’ in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes any dwelling, fenced area, vehicle, railway car, cargo container, or any other structure used for lodging of persons or for carrying on business therein, or for the use, sale or deposit of goods; each unit of a building consisting of two or more units separately secured or occupied is a separate building.

RCW 9A.04.110(5).

In addressing whether a locomotive is a “carport” and, therefore, a “building” as defined in RCW 9A.04.110(5), this Court reviews the meaning of a statutory definition *de novo*, as an issue of law. *State v. Wentz*, 149 Wn.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). When a statutory term is undefined, absent a contrary legislative intent, courts give the words of a statute their ordinary meaning, and may look to a dictionary for such meaning. *State v. Gonzalez*, 168 Wn.2d 256, 263–64, 226 P.3d 131, *cert. denied*, 131 S.Ct. 318 (2010). A statute is ambiguous if it is subject to two or more reasonable interpretations. *State v. McGee*, 122 Wn.2d 783, 787, 864 P.2d 912 (1993).

Webster's defines a carport as "[a]n open-sided roofed automobile shelter that is usu[ally] formed by extension of the roof from the side of a building." Webster's Third New International Dictionary at 342 (1993). In addition, Merriam-Webster defines a carport as "a shelter for a car that has open sides and that is usually attached to the side of a building[.]" <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/carport>. See also *Small v. State*, 710 So.2d 591, 593 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998) ("With no walls enclosing it, save for the single wall shared with the house, the instant carport is little more than a large awning.").

In this case, the carport area was simply a covered breezeway between the residence and contained the storage unit. The carport was not a structure "used for lodging." RCW 9A.04.110(5). The carport also was not a structure used for the purpose of carrying on a business or for the deposit of goods, thus it did not qualify as a "building."

A unanimity instruction is required in a multiple acts case. *State v. Furseth*, 156 Wn.App. 516, 520, 233 P.3d 902 (2010). A case is a multiple acts case when "several acts are alleged and any one of them could constitute the crime charged." *Furseth*, 156 Wn.App. at 520, quoting *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 411. Each of the multiple acts alleged

must be “capable of satisfying the material facts required to prove” the charged crime. *State v. Bobenhouse*, 166 Wn.2d 881, 894, 214 P.3d 907 (2009). Here, only one of the acts constituted a crime. Since without a special verdict it is unclear upon which act the jury relied, the court erred in failing to instruct the jury on unanimity.

c. *The trial court’s failure to instruct on unanimity was not harmless.*

The error in failing to instruct on unanimity is presumed prejudicial. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 512. The error is harmless only if no rational trier of fact could have entertained a reasonable doubt that each incident established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 405-06.

The trial court’s failure to give a unanimity instruction cannot be considered harmless here, because one of the acts alleged does not constitute burglary as a matter of law. The State presented evidence of two acts - entry into the carport and entry into the storage unit—and argued that either supported Mr. Russell’s conviction for burglary. Thus, taking from within the carport could not be the basis of the burglary conviction. Mr. Russell’s burglary conviction must be reversed, and the matter remanded for a new trial. *See State v. Brooks*, 77 Wn.App. 516, 521, 892 P.2d 1099 (1995) (reversing and remanding

for new trial based on absence of unanimity instruction where evidence of one act supported offenses other than the burglary charged).

2. The inclusion in Russell’s offender score of California convictions for burglary, which is broader than the Washington crime of burglary, violated Mr. Russell’s rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and the Sentencing Reform Act.

- a. *Out-of-state convictions may not be included in a defendant’s offender score if the foreign statute prohibits a broader swath of conduct than the analogous Washington statute.*

The SRA creates a grid of standard sentencing ranges calculated according to the seriousness level of the crime in question and the defendant’s offender score. RCW 9.94A.505, .510, .520, .525; *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). The offender score is the sum of points accrued as a result of prior convictions. RCW 9.94A.525. This Court reviews de novo the sentencing court’s calculation of the offender score. *State v. Rivers*, 130 Wn.App. 689, 699, 128 P.3d 608 (2005).

“Out-of-state convictions for offenses shall be classified according to the comparable offense definitions and sentences provided by Washington law.” RCW 9.94A.525(3). A foreign conviction for a crime that is *not* comparable to a Washington felony may not be

included in the offender score. *State v. Thomas*, 135 Wn.App. 474, 477, 144 P.3d 1178 (2006); *see also In re Personal Restraint of Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d 249, 258, 111 P.3d 837 (2005) (conviction for foreign crime that is broader than analogous Washington statute may not be counted as a “strike” for purposes of sentencing).

The State bears the burden of proving criminal history, including comparability of out-of-state convictions, as a matter of due process. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *State v. Hunley*, 175 Wn.2d 901, 917, 287 P.3d 584 (2012). Furthermore, “fundamental principles of due process prohibit a criminal defendant from being sentenced on the basis of information which is false, lacks a minimum indicia of reliability, or is unsupported in the record.” *Ford*, 137 Wn.2d at 481.

To determine whether a prior out-of-state conviction may be included in a defendant’s offender score, the sentencing court must compare the elements of the foreign crime with the elements of the similar Washington crime. If the elements are the same, or if the foreign crime is narrower than the Washington felony, the foreign conviction may be included in the offender score. *Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d at 255.

- b. *The trial court cannot look at the facts of the prior conviction unless the statute is divisible.*

If the out-of-state statute is “divisible,” in the sense that it sets forth alternative elements, the sentencing court may engage in a limited factual inquiry to determine under which prong of the foreign statute the defendant was convicted. *See Descamps v. United States*, ___ U.S. 133 S.Ct. 2276, 2284, 186 L.Ed.2d 438 (2013). In *Descamps*, the United States Supreme Court explained the constitutional limits of comparability analysis while addressing whether a defendant’s prior California conviction for burglary could be counted as a “prior violent felony” that would increase his sentence under the federal Armed Career Criminal Act (“ACCA”). *See id*, citing 18 U.S.C. § 924(e). Prior crimes do not count under the ACCA unless they are comparable to the so-called “generic offense.” *Descamps*, 133 S.Ct. at 2283. The Court explained its “modified categorical approach” for addressing whether a prior conviction obtained under a “divisible statute” is comparable to the generic offense:

That kind of statute sets out one or more elements of the offense in the alternative – for example, stating that burglary involves entry into a building *or* an automobile. If one alternative (say, a building) matches an element in the generic offense, but the other (say, an automobile) does not, the modified categorical approach permits sentencing courts to consult a limited class of documents,

such as indictments and jury instructions, to determine which alternative formed the basis of the defendant's prior conviction.

Descamps, 133 S.Ct. at 2281.

Thus, for example, if a person had a prior conviction under Washington's harassment statute, which sets forth alternative means and is therefore divisible, the sentencing court could perform a limited factual inquiry to determine whether the defendant was convicted under subsection (2)(a) or (2)(b). *See* RCW 9A.46.020 (setting forth alternative elements for misdemeanor harassment and felony harassment). If the person had been convicted of a felony under subsection (2)(b), the conviction would count as a point in the offender score (assuming it had not washed out). RCW 9.94A.525. If the person had been convicted of misdemeanor harassment under subsection (2)(a), the conviction could be used to interrupt the wash-out period but would not count as a point. *See id.*

If the out-of-state statute under which the defendant was convicted is not divisible and simply prohibits a broader swath of conduct than the relevant Washington felony statute, the prior foreign conviction may not be counted as a felony in the defendant's offender score. A sentencing court may not consider the underlying facts of a

prior conviction to determine whether the defendant *could have* been convicted under the narrower Washington statute. *Descamps*, 133 S.Ct. at 2281-82; *Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d at 256-57; *State v. Ortega*, 120 Wn.App. 165, 174, 84 P.3d 935 (2004).

The United States Supreme Court has explained why this type of factual inquiry violates the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. Because the Constitution guarantees the rights to due process and a jury trial, any fact that increases the prescribed range of penalties must be either admitted by the defendant or found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; *Alleyne v. United States*, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 2151, 2162-63, 186 L.Ed.2d 314 (2013), *citing*, *inter alia*, *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000). Although the fact of a prior conviction may be an exception to the above rule, there is no exception allowing courts to find facts *underlying* prior convictions. *Descamps*, 133 S.Ct. at 2288. “The Sixth Amendment contemplates that a jury – not a sentencing court – will find such facts, unanimously and beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* A sentencing court may not “rely on its own finding about a non-elemental fact” to increase a defendant’s sentence. *Id.* at 2289.

The Washington Supreme Court already recognized as much in

Lavery:

In applying *Apprendi*, we have held that the existence of a prior conviction need not be presented to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. All a sentencing court needs to do is find that the prior conviction exists. No additional safeguards are required because a certified copy of a prior judgment and sentence is highly reliable evidence. While this is also true of foreign crimes that are identical on their face, it is not true for foreign crimes that are *not* facially identical. In essence, such crimes are *different* crimes.

Lavery, 154 Wn.2d at 256-57 (internal citations omitted) (emphases in original). Similarly, Division Three in *Ortega* recognized that “*Apprendi* prohibits a sentencing court’s consideration of the underlying facts of a prior conviction if those facts were not found by the trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Ortega*, 120 Wn.App. at 174.

c. *Because the California burglary statute prohibits broader conduct than does the Washington statute, Mr. Russell’s prior California convictions may not be included in his offender score.*

In *Descamps*, the Court held a prior California burglary could not be used to increase a defendant’s sentence because the California burglary statute is broader than generic burglary: it does not require breaking and entering. *Descamps*, 133 S.Ct. at 2293. The Court

emphasized, “[w]hether Descamps *did* break and enter makes no difference.” *Id.* at 2286. “A defendant, after all, often has little incentive to contest facts that are not elements of the charged offense.” *Id.* at 2289; *accord Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d at 257 (“Where the foreign statute is broader than Washington’s, ... there may have been no incentive for the accused to have attempted to prove that he did not commit the narrower offense”). Because a conviction for generic burglary requires proof of an element that does not exist in the California burglary statute, the prior California burglary could not be counted. *Descamps*, 133 S.Ct. at 2293.

If the statutory formulation of the out-of-state crime did not contain one or more of the elements of the Washington crime on the date of the offense, it means that the out-of-state court or jury did not have to find each fact that must be found to convict the defendant of the essential elements of liability under the Washington counterpart crime. *Id.* at 140. “Because [the defendant] pled guilty to armed robbery, the only acts he conceded were *the elements of the crime* stated in the indictment.” *Lavery*, 154 Wn.2d at 143. Thus, in *Lavery*, the court held the Illinois conviction could not be used to increase the sentence to life without parole. *Id.* at 143.

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