FILED
Jul 24, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72428-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CLAYTON RUSSELL,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE TANYA L. THORP

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> JACOB R. BROWN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT WAS NOT REQUIRED TO ISSUE A UNANIMITY INSTRUCTION BECAUSE RUSSELL COMMITTED A CONTINUING COURSE OF CONDUCT.

Russell asserts that his conviction for second-degree burglary could have violated his right to a unanimous verdict, because there was no unanimity instruction below. His argument rests on two premises:

(1) taking property from two locations in a single carport constitutes multiple acts; and (2) only the storage closet portion of the carport is a "building" within the meaning of the second-degree burglary statute.

Thus, he argues, the jury could have been non-unanimous as to which act he committed and could have convicted him of burglary for taking property from a part of the carport that was not legally a building.

Russell's claim should be rejected because both of his premises are incorrect. First, this was not a multiple-acts case. Russell took property from the floor and built-in closet of the carport in a single incident, as part of a continuing course of conduct. Because Russell did not commit multiple acts, no unanimity instruction was required.

Second, the floor and built-in storage closet of the carport—both of which were physically attached to the victims' home—were part of a single "building" for purposes of the burglary statute. Even if Russell's

conduct could legitimately be characterized as multiple acts, there is no risk that the jury convicted Russell based on a legally insufficient act.

Finally, even assuming for the sake of argument that Russell committed multiple acts and that one of them was legally insufficient to support the charge, the lack of a unanimity instruction was harmless because no reasonable juror could have doubted that Russell took property from the storage closet—an act that Russell concedes was sufficient to sustain a conviction for second-degree burglary.

#### a. Additional Facts.

The trial court instructed the jury that, in order to convict Russell of second-degree burglary, it would have to find beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about September 7, 2013, the defendant unlawfully entered or remained unlawfully in a building other than a dwelling;
- (2) That the entering or remaining was with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein; and
- (3) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

  CP 51 (Instruction 18); see RCW 9A.52.030(1); see also WPIC 60.04.

The trial court also instructed the jury on the meaning of the term, "building":

Building, in addition to its ordinary meaning, includes any dwelling or fenced area. Building also includes any other structure used mainly for lodging of persons, for carrying on business therein, or for the use, sale or deposit of goods. This definition of building applies only to the Burglary in the Second Degree charge[.]

CP 47 (Instruction 14); see RCW 9A.04.110(5); see also WPIC 2.05.

Russell proposed instructions on the lesser included offense of trespass, but did not propose a unanimity instruction. CP 19-27.

In closing argument, the State urged the jury to find that by entering the attached carport, Russell had entered a dwelling and committed Residential Burglary. 4RP 276-78. If the jury disagreed that the attached carport was a dwelling, the State argued, it could at least find that Russell had entered a building and committed Burglary in the Second Degree. 4RP 278. The State did *not* argue that Russell had committed multiple acts of burglary by entering the carport and opening the storage closet; instead, the State referred to these locations collectively as "a structure used for the sale or deposit of goods." 4RP 278.

Russell's trial attorney then conceded to the jury that Russell had taken the property, but argued that he had thought it had been abandoned.

4RP 289, 292, 296. She also argued that the carport and storage closet were neither a "dwelling" nor "building" for purposes of burglary.

4RP 296. At most, they constituted a "premises" for purposes of trespass.

4RP 296. The jury disagreed in part and found Russell guilty of Burglary in the Second Degree. CP 62-63.

 b. By Entering The Carport And Opening The Storage Closet, Russell Engaged In A Continuing Course Of Conduct, Constituting Burglary In The Second Degree.

As noted, Russell's claim should be rejected because he engaged in a continuing course of conduct, so a unanimity instruction was not required. Further, because the carport and storage closet are part of a single building for purposes of the second-degree burglary statute, there is no risk that the jury convicted him of a legally insufficient act. Finally, even if Russell's conduct entailed multiple acts and one of those acts was insufficient to constitute burglary, Russell's conviction should be affirmed because no reasonable juror could have doubted that he committed second-degree burglary by entering the storage closet.

i. The trial court was not required to issue a unanimity instruction because this case did not involve multiple acts.

When the State presents evidence of several distinct acts, any of which could form the basis for the crime charged, the trial court must ensure that the jury reaches a unanimous verdict on one particular act.

State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 572, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), modified in part by State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 405-06, 756 P.2d 105 (1988).

This rule applies only to cases involving several distinct acts; it does not

apply where the evidence instead indicates a continuing course of conduct. State v. Handran, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989).

To determine whether the defendant's actions entailed distinct acts or a continuing course of conduct, courts evaluate the facts in a commonsense manner, and consider "(1) the time separating the criminal acts and (2) whether the criminal acts involved the same parties, location, and ultimate purpose." State v. Brown, 159 Wn. App. 1, 14, 248 P.3d 518 (2010). In other words, "evidence that the charged conduct occurred at different times and places tends to show that several distinct acts occurred[,]" while "evidence that a defendant engage[d] in a series of actions intended to secure the same objective supports the characterization of those actions as a continuing course of conduct[.]" Id. (quotation marks and citation omitted) (alterations supplied).

Here, the evidence established that Russell simply drove his car into the carport and loaded it with the victims' property. He took some items from the corner of the carport, near the closet, and some items from inside the closet. 2RP 115-17; 3RP 132-33, 135. He accomplished this crime in a single sequence (the neighbor described the suspect as driving into the carport, turning around so that the car was backed-into the carport, and then leaving) and over a short period of time—no more than 30 to 60 minutes. 2RP 104-07, 117, 118-19; 3RP 132, 137, 140. There was no

evidence that Russell made multiple trips to the house. Viewed in a commonsense manner, Russell's crime was part of a continuing course of conduct. He was not entitled to a unanimity instruction.

ii. An attached carport is a "building" for purposes of the second-degree burglary statute.

Even assuming for the sake of argument that Russell committed multiple acts by taking property from the floor and closet of the carport, Russell's conviction should be affirmed because the entire carport qualifies as a "building" for purposes of the second-degree burglary statute. Thus, there is no risk that the jury convicted Russell based on a legally insufficient act.

Whether the attached carport is a "building" for purposes of RCW 9A.04.110(5) is a question of statutory interpretation, reviewed *de novo*.

See State v. Johnson, 159 Wn. App. 766, 770, 247 P.3d 11 (2011). The court's fundamental purpose in interpreting a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. City of Seattle v. Fuller, 177 Wn.2d 263, 269, 300 P.3d 340 (2013). Courts will seek to determine the plain meaning of the statute "from all that the legislature has said in the statute" and related provisions. Id. Courts will give undefined terms their ordinary meaning, and may look to the dictionary. State v. Gonzalez, 168 Wn.2d 256, 263, 226 P.3d 131 (2010).

In <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 132 Wn. App. 400, 407-09, 132 P.3d 737 (2006), the court held that a garage without a door (i.e., with only three walls) was a "building" for purposes of second-degree burglary. Noting that RCW 9A.04.110(5) expressly defines "building" in part according to its "ordinary meaning," the court looked first to the dictionary definition of a building:

[a] constructed edifice designed to stand more or less permanently, covering a space of land, usu[ally] covered by a roof and more or less completely enclosed by walls, and serving as a dwelling, storehouse, factory, shelter for animals, or other useful structure-distinguished from structures not designed for occupancy (as fences or monuments) and from structures not intended for use in one place (as boats or trailers) even though subject to occupancy.

Id. at 408 (quoting Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary 292 (1969)).

The court held that the three-walled garage fell under the ordinary meaning of building because it was permanent and immobile, covered a space of land, had a roof, and served as a storehouse or other useful structure. <u>Id.</u> at 408. Moreover, even though the garage lacked a door, it was still "more or less completely enclosed." <u>Id.</u>

Even if the garage was not a building in the ordinary sense, the <u>Johnson</u> court held that it otherwise fell under the broader definition of building contained in RCW 9A.04.110(5), which also defines a building as "any other *structure* used for lodging of persons or for carrying on business therein, or for the use, sale or deposit of goods." 132 Wn. App.

at 408 (quoting RCW 9A.04.110(5)) (emphasis added). "Structure" was defined in the dictionary as "something constructed or built." <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted). "Goods" were defined as "tangible moveable personal property having intrinsic value." <u>Id.</u> at 408-09 (citation omitted).

Because the garage in <u>Johnson</u> was used to store tools, lawn equipment, and other items, it qualified for this broader, legislative definition of building. <u>Id.</u> at 409.

The carport in the instant case is likewise a building in the ordinary sense. It was physically attached to a permanent structure—the house.

2RP 110-11; 3RP 135-36; Ex. 1, 4. It had a roof, which was plainly visible in the photographs admitted at trial. Ex. 1, 4. It was also a storehouse or other useful structure, used for parking and for storing goods. 2RP 111. While it had fewer walls than the garage in Johnson, because of its permanent and immobile nature, connection to a house, and use, the carport was a building in the ordinary meaning.

Even if not a building in the ordinary meaning, the carport certainly was a building within the broader definition contained in RCW 9A.04.110(5), i.e., a "structure used for . . . the use . . . or deposit of goods." Just as in <u>Johnson</u>, the carport was used to store tools and lawn equipment. 2RP 115; 3RP 132-33; <u>see Johnson</u>, 132 Wn. App. at 409. It was also used to store cars. 2RP 111. Because Russell's conduct in

stealing property from both the floor and closet of the carport constituted burglary, there is no risk that the jury convicted him based upon legally insufficient conduct.

iii. Any error in the failure to provide a unanimity instruction was harmless because no reasonable juror could have doubted that Russell committed second-degree burglary by entering and stealing property from the storage closet.

The failure to give a unanimity instruction in a multiple-acts case is harmless if no reasonable juror could have had a reasonable doubt about each of the incidents alleged. State v. Coleman, 159 Wn.2d 509, 512, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). Even assuming for the sake of argument that Russell committed multiple acts, and that taking property from the floor of the carport was insufficient to constitute burglary, the lack of a unanimity instruction was harmless because no reasonable juror could have doubted that he also took property from the storage closet—an act that Russell concedes constituted burglary. Br. of App't at 9.

Bell recalled specifically that he had put his compound bow in the storage closet, because he remembered that it was strange that he had put it in the left-hand closet instead of the right-hand closet, as usual. 3RP 133-35. The reason he had put it in the left-hand closet was that he had already cleaned out the right-hand closet. 3RP 135. When Bell

confronted Russell, Russell apologized and gave him back the bow. 3RP 143-44. Russell admitted to the police that he had returned the bow. Ex. 18 at 4:33-04:39. Russell's trial attorney even conceded in closing argument that Russell had returned the bow to Bell. 4RP 292. The jury could not reasonably have doubted this evidence.

The jury also could not reasonably have disbelieved that Russell took property from the floor of the carport. Kane and Bell left property on the floor, including a printer, lawn tools, photographs, and toys. 2RP 115-17; 3RP 132-33, 138. Bell later saw some of this property in Russell's car. 3RP 147-49. Russell also returned some of this property to Kane, when he drove back to the house. 3RP 232-33.

The only evidence to the contrary was Russell's incredible explanation to the police, captured on video—that he simply had found the property on the side of the road. 3RP 171; Ex. 18 at 00:38-00:50; Ex. 19 at 00:51-01:24, 03:54-04:06. This explanation was completely at odds with the testimony of both victims and their neighbor, none of whom had any motive to lie about where Russell had obtained the property. Russell's explanation was especially incredible in light of Bell's testimony, who compellingly and convincingly testified that he remembered putting the bow in the closet before leaving to return the U-Haul.

Russell's explanation was also beset by inconsistencies. For example, he told the police that he had left his car at the intersection because he was afraid of being pulled over for a suspended license. 3RP 173, 189; Ex. 18 at 05:11-05:40; Ex. 19 at 03:01-03:28. Yet he had just driven to Kane and Bell's residence to steal their property, as well as to another house, and then back to the victims' residence. A reasonable juror would have concluded that Russell left his vehicle at an intersection because he actually was concerned that the victims could identify his vehicle, not because he was worried about driving with a suspended license.

Russell also gave inconsistent explanations to the police for why his car had no license plates. At one point, he told police that it was because he had just gotten the car. 3RP 173; Ex. 18 at 05:47-05:56. At another point, he claimed that it was because he needed an emissions test, or that he had not had time to put the plates on his car. Ex. 19 at 11:40-12:30. A reasonable juror would not have believed Russell.

Finally, the verdict shows that the jury necessarily disbelieved Russell's explanation. His attorney argued in closing that Russell merely had found the property in a box in the driveway. 4RP 289. The jury

rejected this explanation by convicting him of burglary, which, under the State's theory, required the finding that he had at least entered the carport.<sup>6</sup>

Because the jury could not reasonably have doubted that Russell took property from the storage closet in addition to the floor of the carport, any failure to give a unanimity instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Russell's conviction should be affirmed.

# 2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT RUSSELL'S PRIOR CONVICTIONS FOR BURGLARY WERE FACTUALLY COMPARABLE TO BURGLARY IN WASHINGTON.

Russell asserts that the trial court erred by examining the facts underlying his convictions for burglary in California, in finding that they were comparable to Washington offenses. He claims that this factual inquiry violated his Sixth Amendment right to a determination of facts by a jury. Russell's claim fails because he was charged with and specifically pleaded to the facts that made his California convictions comparable. The trial court permissibly considered these facts in determining that his California convictions were comparable, and properly calculated his offender score.

4RP 297.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As the prosecutor argued to the jury in rebuttal:

<sup>[</sup>Defense counsel] in closing argument made a lot of statements like maybe the property was in the driveway, maybe it was on the side of the road. We know where the property was. It was in the corner of the carport. And I just want you to consider during your deliberations how far Mr. Russell had to go up that driveway and into that carport in order to get those items.

#### a. Additional Facts.

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